WALKING THE TIGHTROPES: NAVIGATING ACCEPTABLE FEMININITY IN MEN'S PROFESSIONAL SPORTS WORKPLACES

by

MEGAN NICHOLE WILLHOITE

A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Sociology and the Robert D. Clark Honors College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Science

May 2022

An Abstract of the Thesis of

Megan Nichole Willhoite for the degree of Bachelor of Science in the Department of Sociology to be taken June 2022

Title: Walking the Tightropes: Navigating Acceptable Femininity in Men's Professional Sports Workplaces

Approved: <u>Jocelyn Hollander, Ph.D.</u>
Primary Thesis Advisor

Recent reports of toxic workplace environments regarding the treatment of nonplayer personnel in professional sports organizations like the NBA and NFL have highlighted just how little is known about this unique work environment. Previous research in the sociology of sport, organizational sociology, and gender studies suggests a strong relationship between masculine values of aggression and competition within sports cultures and workplace cultures. However, there is very little research on how gender affects the experiences of working women in professional sports organizations. This project aims to explore how these women's femininity is challenged and reinforced via their experience of their sports-centered occupations. The study consisted of interviewing eight self-selected women who work in non-player personnel roles in minor league baseball organizations across the United States, who each shared their experiences from current and past positions in professional sports. The findings of this study suggest that women are constantly navigating boundaries of acceptable behavior regarding their confidence, their appearance, and their parental status in ways that are in line with other industries but contextualized uniquely by the sports environment. This ultimately provides crucial context for understanding what working in professional sports is like for women, the gendered challenges they experience, and what types of experiences may be contributing to an increased number of reports about poor sports workplace environments.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Jocelyn Hollander, Dr. Jessica Vasquez Tokos, and Dr. Ian McNeely for serving on my Thesis Committee and for their support in helping me craft a research project that captures my professional, academic, and personal interests. Their help was instrumental in helping me take my idea to an actionable research project that I'm proud of. I would also like to thank the Clark Honors College for the opportunity to be a part of this vibrant learning community. I'm grateful to have had countless professors within the CHC that genuinely want to see me succeed in and out of the classroom. Becoming a Duck has been the best decision I've ever made, and the Clark Honors College is one of many reasons why.

I would also like to thank my friends who've been there for me since I stepped foot on campus my freshman year and for the ones I made along the way. You made this experience fun, even when classes, projects, and life got hard. Your love hasn't gone unnoticed. Finally, I'd like to take this opportunity to thank my parents and my brother for their continuous support. You've celebrated my successes and been there to support me during the hard times, and I couldn't have done this without you.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Literature Review	4
Masculinity and Sport	4
Gender In the Workplace	6
Motherhood in the Workplace	8
Stereotype Threat	9
Intersections	9
The Gendered Sports Workplace	10
Methods	11
Findings	13
The Line Between Confidence and Being a "Bitch"	13
The Line Between Sexual Threat and Sex Appeal	17
The Line Between Good Worker and Good Mother	20
Continual Improvement	22
Conclusion	24
Appendix	27
Bibliography	30

Introduction

In the twenty-first century, women have made substantial, historic strides in attaining positions of power within the enterprise of professional sports. One such example is Major League Baseball's Kim Ng, the first and only female General Manager of a Big 4 professional sports franchise in North America (Gregory 2021). Women across different pro leagues are refereeing the highest levels of men's professional sport, and women's professional leagues and players are garnering more attention and sponsorships than ever before (Goldman 2021). Despite this headway, there are many contemporary examples that highlight numerous gender discrepancies on the playing field for female athletes. One prominent example is the pay gap present in United States National Team soccer. Differing pay structures meant that members of the women's soccer team— who have consistently been ranked among the best women's teams in the world—make significantly less than the men's team at every stage of FIFA play despite having the same team sponsors and partners. This is even though the men's team has not performed well in international competition in nearly a decade (Ellison 2020). Another example of gender inequality in sports was the 2020 NCAA Basketball March Madness Tournament. The women's tournament in Texas offered a single rack of dumbbells and yoga mats, limited food options, and small gift bags for the athletes. The men's tournament in Indiana had a full ballroom of exercise equipment, a variety of food selections, and larger gift bags. It wasn't until players and coaches brought the disparities to social media that the amenities were upgraded to be more equitable (Tschinkel 2021).

This reporting on women's sport and discrimination has showcased how sport is fraught with gender inequality, but players aren't the only women who work for sports organizations. Women also serve in front office roles— for example, as sales representatives and financial officers— and there is a severe lack of understanding as to how these women experience work cultures in professional sports organizations. Recent reports and investigations of harassment in the NBA and NFL make this research extremely pertinent. The Phoenix Suns' president Robert Sarver is under NBA league investigation due to allegations of racist comments, misogynistic comments, and fostering a toxic workplace. These allegations include (but are not limited to): passing around photos of his wife in a bikini while commenting on her ability to perform oral sex and asking a female employee if he "owned" her as a means of asking if she worked for the organization (Holmes 2021).

While this report is shocking, it is not isolated to the Suns' organization. The Portland Trailblazers' General Manager Neil Olshey was recently fired due to similar allegations of fostering a toxic work culture among non-player personnel (Deb 2021). In the NFL, the Washington Commanders were probed by the league due to their workplace culture— and these findings haven't been released to the public despite the United States Congress requiring the league to report its findings (Belson 2021).

Little systematic study has been dedicated to this unique organizational field, which is characterized by its close proximity to the actual athletic competitions that the organizations' teams take part in. These allegations brought forth by employees of professional teams especially highlight how women, who have historically been disadvantaged in traditional non-sport office workplaces, are still experiencing

discrimination and harassment. Given prior research—which will be elaborated upon in the upcoming section— we understand that certain characteristics, identities, and behaviors are socially stereotyped to gender as "feminine" or "masculine" constructs. These shape our assumptions of people's attitudes and capabilities by virtue of gender. Thus, this study will serve as an initial window to view how women working in professional sports organizations experience their work cultures and if they perceive that the constructs of femininity are challenged or reinforced by virtue of their work environment.

Literature Review

Masculinity and Sport

Athletics are a unique, central structure in American society. Beyond entertainment value, sports serve as a societal structure for social organization and as a cultural practice that millions voluntarily participate in as fans, participants, or officials (Bass 2014). This omnipresence of sport in American culture makes it more than just games for fun; in reality, it is an important socializing institution for its participants and fans (Bass 2014).

Masculine values are central to sporting culture. These are understood as the emotional characteristics that society collectively understands to be associated with stereotypical manhood— for example, ambition, competitiveness, aggression, and so forth (Warm, Waddill, and Dunham 2004). Studies have indicated that masculine values of an individual are an effective predictor of whether an individual is a fan of sports. While not exclusively limited by gender identity, masculine values are more common among members of the population who identify as men (Warm, Waddill, and Dunham 2004). Despite the recent advances of women in professional sport occupations, men still overwhelmingly dominate the makeup of the athletic landscape. Beyond being the majority of those who play a sport, men are also typically the ones in adjacent roles training the athletes; managing the coaches, athletic directors, and sport agents; marketing the games; and reporting on the outcomes of competitions in media (Anderson 2009).

Gender theorists have long purported that sport serves as a crucial site for reproducing patriarchal structures and values (Pringle 2005). One such way is that

sporting cultures often serve and support an orthodox masculinity that privileges a specific group of hypermasculine men, and in these cultures, men often assert physical dominance and use homophobic language to distance themselves from femininity (Adams, Anderson, and McCormack 2010). They also embrace force, domination, and competition as a principal factor of their games (Connell 2005). The elements of athletic competition and hierarchy among men go beyond the game itself— they often serve as the organizing principles of a team and reinforce social dominance of men over women through off-field team dialogue and coaching tactics. For example, the game is often referred to as a "battle" or "war" that must be won, and poor play by a male athlete may lead to him being called a "bitch"— which is a feminized derogatory term (Schwartz 2021). Sometimes the rhetoric of these all-male peer groups, like that of the heteromasculine sporting culture so often present in a men's sports team, can reinforce their dominance by using physical violence, especially toward women and homosexuals (Schwartz 2021).

One researched example of men receiving preference in sporting culture extends beyond the playing field and into the way their sports are reported on. Historically, media coverage of sports is highly gendered. Women's athletics receive much less airtime on sports newscasts than men's athletics and commentators use a "gender bland sexism" devoid of exciting, actionable language to talk about women's competitions. Meanwhile, men receive much longer news segments, aggressive language descriptors in their commentary and in-depth play analysis. For example, men will be described as making "explosive, nasty, or game changing" plays whereas a woman will be described as making a "good" or "key" play, making the women's coverage inherently less

exciting (Musto, Cooky, and Messner 2017). This gendered difference—specifically with regards to the men's coverage—highlights just how entrenched masculine language and attitudes are embedded in all aspects of men's sport. It begs further questions as to what other aspects of sport are affected by these attitudes, which is what this project explores further.

Gender In the Workplace

Contemporary research has long highlighted how gender operates in traditional places of work. Masculinity has long been pervasive in professional spheres because men were the primary income earners for much of modern history and made up most workers. Even as the number of women in the workforce has increased, work cultures continue to value independence, hard work, competition, and task-orientation— which are societally associated with manhood— especially at the management level (Vianen and Fischer 2002). Furthermore, having strong masculine values individually contributes to managerial ambition, especially for those looking to attain a management position (Vianen and Fischer 2002). This selection for masculine values, which are more perceived among men, means that fewer women are likely to be in management positions. This common type of workplace dynamic can have an impact on how women are treated in their place of work; women are approximately four times more likely than their male colleagues to experience gender discrimination and sexual harassment while on the job (Roscigno 2019).

The experience and performance of gender in organizations is highly nuanced.

So much about a person's values, strengths, and attributes is assumed by gender, and in a workplace environment, jobs can be sex-segregated in ways that promote a subtle

reinforcement of traditional gender norms (Ridgeway 2011). Often women looking to advance their careers within their workplace will attempt to both eschew and highlight different aspects of their womanhood in order to maintain their credibility and their competitiveness in organizational advancement. For example, they might opt not to have children and complete a traditionally male job within their workplace. At the same time, they might highlight their feminine appearance to access privileges with men working in the same organization based on sex appeal (Cohen 1998). The patriarchal workplace framework thus privileges and selects for masculinity and a certain sexualized femininity that still gratifies men, thereby limiting the acceptable kinds of femininity in the workplace.

One thing is clear: the experience of gender inequality has had exceptional staying power. This is because gender is an organizing principle fundamental to the way we categorize ourselves and each other. The inequalities of the past transform in the face of new social arrangements and perpetuate a modified form of the same inequalities, leading to these modern reports of discrimination and harassment against women (Ridgeway 2011).

Language promoting diversity within organizations is also largely skewed to favor the established hierarchy of those who hold the positions of power. In the diversity rhetoric of many companies, the differences between men and women are not conceptualized or explained as the result of inequality; rather, they are described as natural variations, like someone's sport team preference (Williams et al. 2014). As found in a study of oil companies where women are the minority, this can lead to a dilution of the importance of gender diversity within a company even for the women

employed there, who are more likely to oppose affirmative action programs that hire more women because it is seen as unfair to men (Williams et al. 2014).

Motherhood in the Workplace

Women navigate many social categories and expectations associated with their gender in their everyday lives. For many, one such expectation is that of motherhood. Women who are working and have children often have to balance these two roles carefully so that one does not detrimentally affect the other in the eyes of their social circles. Motherhood can become a salient descriptor in a worker's professional sphere; for instance, it can unfavorably bias evaluations of the worker's job competence and their suitability for positions of authority within their organization because they are seen to have substantial obligations—like the caretaking of children, which historically is a role associated with the mother—outside of work (Ridgeway and Correll, 2004). These biases that motherhood status evokes can be more strongly discriminatory than gender alone; by juxtaposing the cultural definitions of the "good mother" and the "ideal worker", motherhood can be perceived as an upper limit to their professional performance because of the time and emotional demands that caretaking requires of them (Ridgeway and Correll, 2004). These two roles of mother and worker are also locationally distinct and ordered by cultural definition, especially given the social constructions of women's responsibility for domestic work and childcare. Being inside the home as a mother is supposed to be prioritized and being outside the home at a place of work is supposed to come second, which brings about a "double burden" for fulltime working mothers trying to manage the expectations of these two roles in a socially satisfactory way (Chen et al., 2008).

Stereotype Threat

While women do experience overt types of discrimination in professional settings, other more subtle pressures can affect the way they experience their workplace. One such example is the presence of stereotype threat. Stereotype threat refers to a fear of confirming negative stereotypes about an identity group of an individual; this can be regarding several categories including race, gender, social class, or any other social category that a person identifies themself as belonging to (Kortland and Kinas, 2019).

Harboring concerns about confirming negative gender stereotypes in a work context can hinder professional motivation and achievement, which serves to exacerbate workplace gender inequity (Kortland and Kinas, 2019). This phenomenon extends into several settings outside of the workplace. Stereotype threat has also been researched in the context of sport and athletic achievement; in athletes, data shows that the more stereotypically masculine a sport or activity is, the more of a detrimental effect stereotype threat can have on women's performance (Gentile et al., 2018). To combat the effects of stereotype threat in the workplace and in sport, research suggests that having informal mentors and sponsors, supportive supervisors, and strong social support can increase satisfaction among female employees (Kortland and Kinas, 2019). This type of social support may be especially invaluable in workplaces or professions that have been historically male dominated.

Intersections

In these discussions of gender, paid work, and sport, it would be amiss to not address how other aspects of one's social identity can create different lived experiences.

Gender is not the only frame that affects how one experiences the social dynamics of

sport or work. Race, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status, trans identities, nonbinary identities, and other social identities have their own storied histories of exclusion and discrimination in these spaces (Bandy 2014). These can intersect with gender and with each other to compound the experiences of gender inequality (Ridgeway 2011). These intersections deserve multiple studies that analyze the history and mechanisms that reinforce them. Thus, to narrow the scope of this research to one of these social categories, the primary focus of this research will be to examine how women experience gender in a sports workplace.

The Gendered Sports Workplace

While research has been conducted on how gender interacts with sport and sports competition, very little research has been done on how gender affects the experiences of working women in professional sports organizations. A study conducted by Lauren Hindman and Nefertiti Walker (2020) has laid the groundwork for this avenue of study at the managerial level; their research found that women managers within minor league hockey teams experienced both overt and discrete acts of sexism while on the job, as well as the presence of an "old boys club" that perpetuated the sexism they experienced. Their research focused on the unique position of management; as such, the aim of my research project will be to extend their findings to those in a more diverse range of job levels in sports organizations.

Methods

To recruit participants for this research, a random generator of all Low A through AAA Minor League Baseball Teams selected a total of 16 teams to contact. This included 4 Low A teams, 5 High A teams, 3 AA teams, and 4 AAA teams. Each team's public front office directory was located through MiLB.com to email all employees on each team with available contact information and that met any of the following criteria: a feminine name, a feminine appearance in their profile picture, she/her pronouns in their website bio, or an androgynous name with no other gender identifiers readily available. Each recruitment email specified that this email was for a voluntary interview about their experience as a woman working in the sports industry. It also included a virtual calendar to make the interview scheduling more convenient for participation.

Interviews took place before the start of the spring season; after the season began, multiple women responded to outreach emails indicating that they were interested but did not have time to participate. In total, 8 women either responded to the recruitment email expressing interest in participating or scheduled an interview time slot, which were conducted on a rolling basis for approximately two months. Each interview lasted about 30 minutes each and was conducted over the video conference application Zoom. The employees, who have been anonymized with pseudonyms, represent 4 different teams at the High-A, AA, and AAA league levels. In these conversational interviews, participants were asked about their work history in professional sports, their team office dynamic, and gendered treatment and harassment of themselves or their colleagues in the industry. They were also asked to share any

additional information they felt comfortable with about their experience working in sports. A complete interview schedule can be found in the appendix.

The participants in this study each hold different job titles in their respective organizations. The age of participants ranges from early twenties to late sixties, and all the women interviewed were white. More detailed demographic information regarding each participation can be found in the appendix.

Each of these interviews were recorded using Zoom's audio record feature and transcribed using a combination of audio transcription software and manual transcription to ensure. The coding process was largely data driven by listening to each interview and categorizing segments according to emergent themes, connotation (positive or negative), and types of events. After finding commonalties between the interviewees' responses, the portions of transcripts surrounding the most prevalent themes were divided into three groups: confidence, appearance, and family. These categories provided valuable insight into how each of these themes are both encouraged and discouraged in certain contexts, which provide the basis for this study's findings.

Findings

The purpose of this study was to explore how the social constructs of femininity are challenged and upheld in professional sports work environments, especially as more women enter this field of work. The eight participants in this research shared their experiences from their current and previous roles in the professional sports industry. Overall, the interviews for this study illuminated how the women who work in the professional sports front office must navigate several double standards—namely, about their confidence, their appearance, and their parental status—that are both similar and different to the tightropes women in other industries must walk. Women must assert themselves in the workplace to do their jobs well, but that confidence and assertiveness can also be spun to portray them in a negative light. They are also seen as inherently sexual in a way that threatens the attention and reputation of the teams they work for; however, they are also expected to uphold social constructs of femininity and beauty in the way they present themselves. Finally, having families and children is encouraged by virtue of their work environment, but the gendered responsibilities of parenting are a barrier to women who want to start a family and continue to work for their team.

The Line Between Confidence and Being a "Bitch"

Balancing positional authority and likability is something that women working in the professional sports industry must navigate to be successful in their roles. The women who took part in this study came into their positions in three primary ways.

Some worked their way up through their baseball organization, some have worked in the sports industry across various sporting leagues, and some were hired into their roles

after having worked in other professional industries— and this variety allowed access to women working at various authority levels within their teams.

The ratio of men to women in all the teams contacted varied. Among those interviewed, some respondents reported an equal or overrepresentation of women in their workplace; Angelica, for instance, works in an organization with an unusual overrepresentation of women in the front office: "We have tons of females on staff. I would say it is probably 70/30 females to males." However, most respondents characterized the ratio of men to women working in their organization full-time as unequal and male dominant. "For full time staff, I would say maybe 1% to 2% are females," said Kate. Natalie, who has also worked for a National Football League organization prior to her current role, said of her time there and of her current organization:

"If you looked at [the NFL team] overall, it was probably male dominant— but within my department that I worked with specifically, it was predominantly female... And then here out of the 10 or 12 of us, I think there's— well, I know there's only two of us."

Participants who came from organizations that were male dominant, like the one Natalie described, identified exuding confidence and asserting themselves as important in navigating spaces where they are the overwhelming minority. Holly said, "I've definitely had different points in time where I'm the only woman in a boardroom, but I don't let it affect what I'm doing, so I think that makes a huge difference. The work needs to be done, regardless of who I am. I let the work shine, you know, and that's what I think I should be evaluated off of, not by gender." Erica stated that exuding confidence is important for her to assert her own competence and authority as a woman in a male-dominant industry: "[I] put up my guard more if I know that I'm going to talk

to a bunch of guys who do work around the stadium or something like that. I tend to go in, you know, with my shoulders back—more confident than I would if it was just a normal meeting."

However, most participants expressed feeling as though the expectations of their gender identity have made their work roles more difficult to complete at some point in their career. For instance, Jordan indicated that she feels like she must do more work than her male colleagues to avoid the stereotype of being labeled a "bitch" by the men of the office:

"If a male colleague wouldn't finish a project or, you know, had trouble starting a project or something, it always seemed to fall on the women. It would be phrased like, 'Oh, we will put this on your plate, because we know it will get done if it's on your plate.' But it was only the two women, the other woman and I, that would have anything else added to our plates while all the guys were slacking. And it was clearly them not doing their job, but it still had to get done. So, it fell to the women, and we never really said no, and I think that was just because of our position and that we didn't want to be the B word in the office. So you just kind of say yes and do the work."

Jordan's experience is indicative of how stereotype threat can be evoked due to a workplace's dynamic. For women in her situation, the implication that extra work needs to get done by them as an expectation because of their gender can lead to burnout and stress on the job. If the work can't get done because of the negative stress, then that woman risks fulfilling a negative stereotype about women in general— in this case, being incompetent or being called a "bitch."

Kate's current role with her organization involves both leadership and lots of public interface, and she reported that getting members of the public to recognize her as a source of authority has been difficult on account of her gender. "I've found some times where somebody will come up to me and just be kind of, you know, disrespectful, or

just not listening to what I would say. And then my coworker who was male—I'd be like, 'Listen, like, this person is just not listening to me, can you go talk to them?' And then he would go out there and they'd be completely different with their demeanor, and they would totally understand him." For Kate, negative assumptions about her knowledge of her organization's ticket practices and policies are being made by members of the public based on her gender. Meanwhile, her male colleague did not have to face that negative assumption, thereby creating a gendered obstacle in her ability to do her job.

Erica indicated having instances where vendors or contractors made assumptions about her knowledge of doing hands-on work around the stadium because of her femininity. "I would be on the phone with [a contractor] talking about, you know, troubleshooting [the video board] or something like that, and he was like, 'Isn't there a guy that can go do that for you?' And I was like, 'Why? I'm fully capable of doing that.' Like, this is my job."

Natalie is in a position of authority over interns with her current team. While she indicated that she's never been insulted directly to her face by colleagues, she knows that people have talked negatively about her behind her back— and that often, her gender and knowledge are conflated as an insult. "When I tell them to do something, it usually comes back to me being a bitch. I'm 'just a woman,' and I 'don't know what I'm talking about' kind of thing."

These experiences show that holding authority as a woman in a sports organization involves a careful negotiation of confidence and conforming to compliant behavior. When someone has a level of organizational authority that clashes with the

established gender hierarchy of their workplace or they don't complete additional labor being asked of them, they risk confirming negative stereotypes about women being incompetent or being a "bitch." Therefore, they must remain cognizant of how they are perceived by others in this male-dominated workplace.

The Line Between Sexual Threat and Sex Appeal

While participants indicated that overt acts of sexism or sexist comments are uncommon between coworkers of the same organization, occasional negative encounters with community members, other organizations, or athletes are more common and usually based upon their femininity and perceived attractiveness. Casey, who works as a Head Groundskeeper, described her experience being objectified by a visiting coach during her first baseball internship:

"One of the visiting team coaches made a comment to my boss saying, 'Is she working?' And he was like, 'Yeah, it's my intern'. And [the coach] was like, 'She working the game?' He said, 'Yes. She's full time staff. So she works the whole time I'm here.' And he was like, 'Well, do you think you could send her home? She's kind of a distraction for the team.' And my boss looked at him and was like, 'Unless you're going to rake the field? No, because I need the hands. I need the help. Unless you're going to drag mid-game, then nope, she's staying.""

Despite now overseeing her ballpark's groundskeeping, Casey reported still receiving comments directly tied to her physical appearance from contractors she works with. "I went out to go check on the groundbreaking, and [the landscaper] goes, 'How's the cutest groundskeeper in [town]?' You could just say, 'How are you?' If I was a dude, you wouldn't say that."

Some women feel desensitized to the sexualized comments made about them because of previous experiences working in sports. Laura, who has been interning and

working for sports teams since high school, indicated a specific instance where a team donor made a sexually charged comment in a meeting towards the younger women in the room:

"He basically indicated to us girls, 'You know, the pussy has the power!' And he looks at the two young females in the office and is like, 'You know what I mean?' And we're kind of like, 'No.' It was definitely a weird situation. It definitely rocked the female intern we had at the time more than me— again, having gone through high school with boys, you know, calling us like water bitches, or 'You should, like, give us water in a white t-shirt.' This didn't feel that different from that. So I was kind of like, 'Oh, great. You're objectifying women. Such a great guy, and now I'm just gonna always hate you."

Laura's experience exemplifies how women are sexualized in informal conversation in this field of work. That sexualization is also formally codified in rules and expectations in how women are supposed to behave. The women interviewed indicated that being told what attire and behavior is appropriate with players is common. Natalie, who works with the same team as Laura, mentioned having conversations about appropriate attire and behavior with multiple organizations she's worked for:

"I got sat down with the [NFL team] and told, like, 'Don't wear certain things to the office, always remain professional, don't get too cozy with players.' Like, you have to make sure that line, it's there... I had to talk with my two female supervisors with the [NFL team], whereas when I came here, our GMs did have [the talk] with me— but it was two males in a room across from me. So it was kind of a completely different tone of conversation from where with the females, it was like, 'Okay, they're on my side, they're looking out for me.' With the male conversation, it was more threatening, like, 'don't do this'— a little bit more judgmental."

Laura reported having a similar conversation to Natalie during her years interning and upon her hiring, adding how the expectation of maintaining appropriate, professional relationships seems to always fall on the women and not the men. "People

always will tell female employees or interns, 'Don't talk to the players, don't get involved with the players,' but nobody ever tells the players not to hit us up on Instagram."

While women working in the sports world are sometimes blatantly reminded about keeping men's sexuality under control by behaving in certain ways, as Laura articulated, there is still a pressure to meet social conventions of feminine appearance and beauty. Kate indicated that she felt it was hard to meet this standard with her team's dress code, which catered more to masculine professional attire. "Khakis are not flattering. It's not great for women, you know, at certain times of the month, shape-wise, all these types of things." Sometimes, the reminders are more explicitly stated. Jordan indicated that she's been explicitly told to dress in a more feminine manner because of her role with her team. "Oh, you know, you're in broadcast and so you should probably wear nicer clothes and more makeup in the office,' and that sort of thing... 'Oh, you're a woman and you're in a broadcast position, you should look a certain way.""

Again, there is a narrow range of behavior that women in professional sports must remain in to be taken seriously in their roles. Women are held responsible for maintaining acceptable exhibitions of their sexuality, but even with an emphasis on professional boundaries, there are still instances where comments are made about their bodies or appearance. At the same time, women are not allowed to totally eschew the social constructs of feminine appearance despite the industry's historically masculine required dress—creating yet another tightrope that women in sports must walk to effectively do their jobs.

The Line Between Good Worker and Good Mother

Family, motherhood, and expectations for both are a complex web that women in professional sports organizations must navigate in both their professional and personal lives. Given the structure of working in minor league baseball, employees usually work longer than the typical 40-hour workweek during the season. As such, employees spend a lot of time with each other and are able to build extensive interpersonal relationships. All but one of the women explicitly described their organizations as a family. Natalie said of her workplace: "We're all pretty close; we work really long hours, so we know each other really well. We know each other's families— or, for me, my family's not here. So they basically are my family when it comes to certain things." Laura said that her team "definitely kind of has a family vibe—like, our GM is out of the office right now for the next few weeks, and we're like, 'Oh, Dad's gone.' You know, 'Who's supervising us?" jokingly. We all get along with each other pretty well. Sometimes we're pulling pranks on each other, just kind of having fun, but you know, the kind of family that you can also rely on." Angelica added that she is especially close with some of her female colleagues; "I threw a baby shower for one, and I married [officiated] one," she said.

While the office feels like a family for most of those interviewed, a number of these women also have spouses and children outside of work. When the COVID-19 pandemic hit in 2020 and people started working remotely, Angelica felt the impact of shouldering both her role at work and her role at home as a caretaker to her children. "My children were eight and three at the time COVID started. So not only was I figuring out how to be a full-time working mom from home, but I was learning how to

teach, to do schoolwork, and still trying to have work meetings. It was a struggle," she said. She noted that her colleagues were extremely supportive of each other during that period of remote work. "They all stepped up [and helped]. I never wanted to be a stay-at-home mom, and I never wanted to be a teacher, and I got both of that for a solid year almost. It was hard."

Holly's children are now older, but she recognizes the struggle of trying to balance work and the responsibilities of parenthood. "I do have three kids. And it's been, you know, it is a juggling act at times. They're mostly grown now, but there's definitely been times in my career where it was really hard to keep that juggling act going." She added that she has seen gender affect the treatment of women and herself, regardless of what industry she has worked in; "There are demands outside of the workplace that family and life put on people. I think that [responsibility] is almost always talked about in regard to whether it's a woman or a male in that situation... I've had people that understand those demands, and I have had people that haven't understood it. Finding people in your court that really help and support you, it's important."

Kate has had to reckon with the feasibility of starting a family in the sports industry because of how time-demanding her role is—which can require 70 hours a week when baseball is in season—and the gendered responsibilities of parenting. On top of this, she feels like it's hard to get advice on what she should do because of the lack of women in her organization's management:

"I got married a couple years ago, and now we're starting to think about having a family. And so for me, the thought of like, how do I balance this career choice and raising a family? Our higher management is all males, so it's not like I can go to them and ask them questions... because

most of them in terms of, you know, taking care of the kids, or going grocery shopping, doing the laundry, things like that—their wives are doing that... My husband already has to pick up a lot of slack while I'm gone. So it's kind of like, how do you be a working mom in a place where you can't, but you pretty much are always at?"

Most jobs require time commitment, but the sports industry's long hours—combined with a predominantly masculine environment and a culture where women are seen as responsible for childrearing—puts pressure on those women who are mothers or those who want to become one. While there are rich communities fostered within the teams by virtue of the nontraditional hours required to put on games and manage team affairs, it affects personal decisions about homelife, especially regarding parenting, where women are typically assumed to be the primary caregiver. Juggling the expectations of what their workplace role expects of them and what they want for themselves is a negotiation that has to be made between a woman's personal and professional life in a way unique to the sports industry.

Continual Improvement

Despite most participants reporting negative experiences in their work that they feel were tied to their gender, there was a strong consensus that gender relations in their field are improving over time, which they largely attributed to an increase in women and allied men working in the industry. Per Jordan, who has been in the industry for five years, "If anyone experiences sexism, it is quickly falling to the wayside. Even in my short time in sport— a relatively short time in sports— it's definitely gotten less and less just because I think that there are more women." Erica, who has worked in minor league baseball for nine years, said that she feels lucky to have substantial numbers of women also working in the organizations she's been a part of. "During my first few

years in, we actually had a majority of women, but there's actually been a good presence with every team that I've worked with so far, which has been nice."

In a larger context, Angelica indicated that she has seen a change in both the professional sports industry and outside industries in how men interact with women: "Males in this industry now—I think this is most industries—they're a little more careful with how they work with people." This may not reflect true attitude changes among men, but it does indicate that negative opinions and attitudes are not being outwardly directed toward women to the same degree that it used to. While she wouldn't describe the landscape as entirely equal yet, Erica feels a sense of camaraderie with the other women who work in baseball with her. "That's just the dynamic of knowing, you know, we're in a man's world. We have to stick together like that."

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to see how the constructs of femininity are reinforced and challenged for women who work for professional sports organizations. Overall, the findings suggest that women must navigate narrow boundaries of acceptable femininity in the professional sports workplace in regard to their demeanor, their appearance, and their familial status. These findings are in line with prior research done in other types of office work. It is also reflective of studies conducted in other professional sports leagues, as shown in the work of Walker and Hindman in professional hockey (2020). The experiences of the participants are similar in many regards to the experiences of women in non-sports workplaces; however, the situational contexts of the experiences are largely unique to the job's interface with sport, especially with regard to on-field interactions with coaches and expectations surrounding interactions with players that would not happen often—if at all—in other workplaces.

This study ultimately contributes to the limited but growing body of research into sports business and gender. This matters because it exemplifies that progress toward gender equality is still necessary in not only the professional sports industry, but in all industries. This study specifically betters our understanding of how women who work in the professional sports industry navigate the social expectations of their workplace, which requires their constant awareness and caution to stay within the bounds of acceptable behavior for their male-dominated organizations. Given the litany of allegations regarding gendered workplace misconduct surrounding America's top professional sports teams, these interviews provide important context of sports

workplace dynamics to aid in understanding of the day-to-day conditions and experiences that might be contributing to these increased reports.

One of the most surprising themes to emerge from the study was a strong focus on how motherhood impacts working for a sports organization. Participants often brought up their experiences in this regard without any prompting or specific questions. This theme's prevalence likely stems from the recency of COVID-19 restrictions, which were often mentioned alongside motherhood, and their impacts on how these women navigated working from home while minding children who were home from school. This topic, while addressed partially here, warrants further study to address the experience of motherhood more fully and working in the professional sports industry.

It is important to note that this study relies on the qualitative testimony of 8 women, meaning that this study may not reflect the experiences of every woman who has worked in a professional sports organization. There are many factors that affect the workplace experience beyond femininity, including racial identity and socioeconomic status, that would make for a fantastic line of new research. An intersectional approach combining gender and race might also reveal other unique experiences that women of color might have in this field. Additionally, some of the points raised by participants could not be addressed fully in this paper and require further research. One such example is how competition between women does or does not play into this work environment and dynamics between coworkers; further research, larger sample sizes, and even international studies are needed to compile a fuller picture of this theme and the experience of workplace femininity in this industry at large.

As someone who presents as traditionally feminine and has a traditionally feminine name, the women contacted for this study may have been more inclined to agree to participate in this research because of my own identity as a woman. They may also have felt more comfortable sharing the specific details of their workplace experiences because they expect their experiences to be relatable to other women, creating a natural rapport that has enabled me to collect data on this topic.

In summary, this pilot study provides an initial window into the experience of femininity in a professional sports front office environment. It elucidates how women who are working in professional sports organizations experience both challenges and reinforcement of gendered constructs by virtue of their working status and the uniqueness of a sports-centered work environment. It highlights that despite advances toward gender equality in the workplace, experiencing harassment and gendered assumptions isn't uncommon— and this reality provides much needed context to understand why women in other professional leagues are coming forward to report mistreatment in their organizations.

Appendix

Figure 1. Participant Information

Name*	Affiliation Level	Race	Job Type
Angelica	AA	White	Business Development
Jordan	AA	White	Broadcasting
Natalie	High A	White	Community Relations
Kate	AA	White	Promotions
Laura	High A	White	Ticketing
Erica	AAA	White	Marketing
Holly	AAA	White	Finance
Casey	AAA	White	Groundskeeping

^{*}Names are pseudonyms

Figure 2. Interview Schedule

- 1) Where are you from? How did you become interested in your role?
- 2) What is your role with this organization? How long have you been working with X organization in your current role? How long have you been working within X organization total?
 - a) Have you ever worked for any other professional sports organizations?
- 3) Have you worked in a non-sport related position before?
 - a) What are some of the biggest differences between the organization you worked for previously and this one?

- 4) How is your department organized? What does your department/role do for the organization?
- 5) Using your best estimate, how would you characterize the ratio of men to women working in your department/organization?
- 6) How would you describe the atmosphere of the office? How friendly are colleagues in this office/department to one another?
 - a) Are women typically friendly with one another in the office?
- 7) How often does the sport (baseball) come up in the office informally?
 - a) Do any other topics often come up informally?
- 8) Do you feel like being a woman has made it easier, harder, or made no difference in your ability to navigate your current job?
 - a) If you have worked a previous role in a non-sport related organization, did being a woman make it easier, harder, or make no difference in your ability to navigate that job?
- 9) Have any of your colleagues made demeaning comments about you or your work based on your gender identity?
 - a) What types of comments were said?
 - b) Is this common in your place of work?
 - c) Do you believe this comment would have still been made in a different, nonsport related environment?
- 10) Have any of your colleagues made demeaning comments about other people based on their gender

- 11) Do you feel like your contributions to the organization are valued higher, the same, or less than your male colleagues because of your gender identity?
- 12) Is there anything else you'd like to share?

Bibliography

- Adams, Adi, Eric Anderson, and Mark McCormack. 2010. "Establishing and Challenging Masculinity: The Influence of Gendered Discourses in Organized Sport." *Journal of Language and Social Psychology* 29(3):278–300. doi: 10.1177/0261927X10368833.
- Anderson, Eric D. 2009. "The Maintenance of Masculinity Among the Stakeholders of Sport." *Sport Management Review* 12(1):3–14. doi: 10.1016/j.smr.2008.09.003.
- Bandy, Susan J. "Gender and Sports Studies: An Historical Perspective." Movement & Sport Sciences Science & Motricité, no. 86 (2014): 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1051/sm/2013111.
- Bass, Amy. 2014. "State of the Field: Sports History and the 'Cultural Turn." *Journal of American History* 101(1):148–72. doi: 10.1093/jahist/jau177.
- Belson, Ken. 2021. "Former Washington Football Staff Members Demand Investigation's Findings." *The New York Times*, October 26.
- Chen, Natalie, Paola Conconi, and Carlo Perroni. 2007. Women's Earning Power and the "Double Burden" of Market and Household Work. SSRN Scholarly Paper. ID 1135507. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network.
- Cohen, Claire. 1998. "Gender, Sybolism and Organizational Cultures." *Journal of Gender Studies* 7(1):94–96.
- Connell, R. W. 2005. "Change among the Gatekeepers: Men, Masculinities, and Gender Equality in the Global Arena." *Signs* 30(3):1801–25. doi: 10.1086/427525.
- Cortland, Clarissa, and Zoe Kinias. 2019. "Stereotype Threat and Women's Work Satisfaction: The Importance of Role Models." Archives of Scientific Psychology, 7(1), 81-89. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/arc0000056
- Ellison, Milaika. 2020. "Just One of the Boys: Exploring the Discrepancy Between Pay and Exposure Between Men and Women in Professional Sports." *SSRN Scholarly Paper*. ID 3588954. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3588954.
- Gentile, Ambra, Stefano Boca, and Isabella Giammusso. 2018. "You Play like a Woman!' Effects of Gender Stereotype Threat on Women's Performance in Physical and Sport Activities: A Meta-Analysis." *Psychology of Sport and Exercise* 39:95–103. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.07.013.
- Goldman, Tom. 2021. "Referee Sarah Thomas Will Make Super Bowl History But She's Part of a Trend." *NPR*, February 4.

- Gregory, Sean. 2021. "How Kim Ng, MLB's First Female GM, Finally Got the Top Job." *Time*. Retrieved (https://time.com/5943601/kim-ng-first-female-gm-miami-marlins/).
- Hindman, Lauren C., and Nefertiti A. Walker. "Sexism in Professional Sports: How Women Managers Experience and Survive Sport Organizational Culture." *Journal of Sport Management* 34, no. 1 (January 1, 2020): 64–76. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2018-0331.
- Holmes, Baxter. 2021. "Allegations of Racism and Misogyny within the Phoenix Suns: Inside Robert Sarver's 17-Year Tenure as Owner." *ESPN.Com*. Retrieved November 29, 2021 (https://www.espn.com/nba/story/_/id/32440987/phoenix-suns-robert-sarver-allegations-racism-misogyny).
- Musto, Michela, Cheryl Cooky, and Michael A. Messner. 2017. "From Fizzle to Sizzle!" Televised Sports News and the Production of Gender-Bland Sexism." *Gender & Society* 31(5):573–96. doi: 10.1177/0891243217726056.
- Pringle, Richard. 2005. "Masculinities, Sport, and Power: A Critical Comparison of Gramscian and Foucauldian Inspired Theoretical Tools." *Journal of Sport and Social Issues* 29(3):256–78. doi: 10.1177/0193723505276228.
- Ridgeway, Cecilia. Framed by Gender: How Gender Inequality Persists in the Modern World. Oxford University Press, 2011.
- Ridgeway, Cecilia L., and Shelley J. Correll. 2004. "Motherhood as a Status Characteristic." *Journal of Social Issues* 60(4):683–700. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-4537.2004.00380.x.
- Roscigno, Vincent J. 2019. "Discrimination, Sexual Harassment, and the Impact of Workplace Power." *Socius* 5:2378023119853894. doi: 10.1177/2378023119853894.
- Sanchez, Mark. 2021. "Trail Blazers President Neil Olshey under Investigation for Toxic Workplace." *New York Post*. Retrieved November 29, 2021 (https://nypost.com/2021/11/06/trail-blazers-gm-neil-olshey-under-investigation-for-toxic-workplace/).
- Schwartz, Martin D. 2021. "Masculinities, Sport, and Violence Against Women: The Contribution of Male Peer Support Theory." *Violence Against Women* 27(5):688–707. doi: 10.1177/1077801220958493.
- Tschinkel, Arielle. 2021. "The NCAA Women's Weight Room Controversy Goes Beyond Women's Basketball." *Shape*. Retrieved October 31, 2021 (https://www.shape.com/celebrities/news/ncaa-mens-vs-womens-weight-room-gender-equality-sports).

- Vianen, Annelies E. M. van, and Agneta H. Fischer. 2002. "Illuminating the Glass Ceiling: The Role of Organizational Culture Preferences." *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology* 75:315–37. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1348/096317902320369730.
- Warm, Daniel L., Paula J. Waddill, and Mardis D. Dunham. "Using Sex and Gender Role Orientation to Predict Level of Sport Fandom." *Journal of Sport Behavior* 27, no. 4 (December 1, 2004): 367–78.
- Williams, Christine L., Kristine Kilanski, and Chandra Muller. "Corporate Diversity Programs and Gender Inequality in the Oil and Gas Industry." *Work and Occupations* 41, no. 4 (November 1, 2014): 440–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/0730888414539172.